
CWM TAF PUBLIC SERVICES 
BOARD JOINT OVERVIEW 

AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
9.30 am THURSDAY, 24TH JANUARY, 2019

GURNOS COMMUNITY ZONE, 15 CHESTNUT WAY, 
GURNOS, MERTHYR TYDFIL, CF47 9SB

This Agenda has been prepared by the 
Merthyr Tydfil Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring 

information should contact the department on (01685 725284) or email 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting(s) 
To approve as accurate the Minutes of the 
following Meeting(s)

3.1  22/11/ 2018 5 - 8

4. Progress Update - Cwm Taf PSB and Cwm Taf 
SPB 

9 - 30

5. Healthy Places Update 
To consider the attached report 31 - 40

6. Information, Communication and Engagement 
Group 
To consider the attached report 41 - 74

7. Work Programme 2018-19 
To consider the attached report 75 - 78

8. Any Other Business deemed urgent by the Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillors:
T Skinner (Merthyr Tydfil CBC) (Chair)
J Bonetto (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC) (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:
J Amos (Merthyr Tydfil CBC), C J Barry (Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC), G Caple (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC), E George 
(Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC), D Isaac (Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC), M J Powell (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC), 
D Sammon (Merthyr Tydfil CBC) and E Stephens 
(Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC)

Co-optees:
M Jehu (Local Health Board), J Jenkins (Community 
Health Council), M A Lewis (RCT Citizen 
Representative), M J Maguire (MT Citizen 
Representative) and J Roome (Ambulance Service)

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

CWM TAF PUBLIC SERVICES 
BOARD JOINT OVERVIEW 

AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
MEETING

THURSDAY, 22ND NOVEMBER, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors:
T Skinner (Merthyr Tydfil CBC) (Chair)
J Bonetto (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC) (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:
J Amos (Merthyr Tydfil CBC), C J Barry (Merthyr Tydfil CBC), 
G Caple (Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council), 
E George (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC) and D Sammon (Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC)

Cooptees:
J Jenkins (Community Health Council), M A Lewis (RCT Citizen 
Representative) and M J Maguire (MT Citizen Representative)

Officers:
A Powell (Performance and Scrutiny Manager), C Hanagan and 
J Nicolls (Democratic Services)

Outside Bodies:
Dr K Nnoaham (Chair of the Strategic Partnership Board)
K Wells and P Mee (Public Service Board)

M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

Page 5

Agenda Item 3.1



ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

Chair

In the absence of the Chair Councillor J Bonnetto Vice Chair took the Chair for Items One, 
Two, Three and part of Four.

1  Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor D 
Isaac (MTCBC), Councillor M Powell and Councillor E 
Stephens (RCT).

2  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

No Declarations of Interest were made.

3  Minutes of Previous 
Meeting(s)

The Committee approves as accurate (subject to any 
amendments) the Minutes of the following Meetings:

3a  26/02/2018 Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Meeting held 26 February 2018 be 
accepted as a correct record.

3b  06/09/2018 Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Meeting held 6 September 2018 be 
accepted as a correct record.

4  Update on Public 
Service Board / 
Strategic Partnership 
Board

The Vice Chair welcomed Dr Kelechi Nnoaham Chair of the 
Strategic Partnership Board to the Meeting.

Dr Nnoaham then updated the Committee in detail of the 
progress made by the PSB and the SPB.

Reference was also made to the Boundary change 
scheduled for 1 April 2019 and the inclusion of Bridgend .

Dr Nnoaham also gave details to the Committee in relation 
to:

 Performance Monitoring and Risk
 Delivery Action Plan
 Developing Performance Framework
 Improving Health and Wellbeing
 Adverse Childhood Experiences
 Behaviours
 Budget Challenges

The Chair then thanked Dr Nnoaham for attending and the 
update to the Panel.

Councillor T Skinner and Councillor J Amos entered the 
Meeting at 10.15 am.

Page 6



5  Thriving Communities The Chair welcomed Mr Paul Mee Lead Officer for Thriving 
Communities Objective to the Meeting.

Mr Mee then referred the Committee to the Draft ‘Overview 
of Cwm Taf Wellbeing Objectives Delivery Plans’ report and 
gave a detailed update on the work being undertaken to 
deliver against the Thriving Communities objective.

Questions were then raised by the Committee in relation to 
the following and were responded to in detail by Mr Mee:

 Funding
 Deadline Extensions – Reasons for the slippage
 Public Sector Involvement 
 How are areas being targeted
 Environmental Issues – Further explanation 

requested in relation to Open green spaces
 Third Sector liaison with the Public Sector
 Going out in the Community to meet the Public – 

Community Connections

Resolved that:

The content of the report be noted.

6  Cwm Taf JOSC - 
Report on Future 
Venues, 
Communication and 
Engagement

The Chair referred the Committee to the ‘Cwm Taf Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Future Venues, 
Communication and Engagement’ report.

Anne Powell then led the Committee through the report and 
stated that she welcomed any comments from the 
Committee on the report and if there were any further 
suggestions for venues in relation to the topics being 
considered.

A Member then referred to engagement with Youth Forums.

After consideration by the Committee it was

Resolved that:

(a) The content of the report be noted and the 
proposed approach agreed

(b) Visits be made by the Committee to Youth Forums 
and Community Zones together with any other 
appropriate areas. 

7  Work Programme 
2018/19

The Chair referred the Committee to the ‘Work Programme’ 
report and the Performance Management Framework and 
suggested an evaluation at the Meeting scheduled to be 
held in March 2019.

This suggestion was then agreed by the Committee. 

A Member also referred to meeting with the appropriate 
School Governors who were linked with the Themes such 
as Health and Wellbeing and that this also form part of the 
future Work Programme.

Page 7



Reference was also made to the work with Young People 
and how they wished to be engaged with the Authorities.

The Committee then agreed the Work Programme.  

Debate then ensued in relation to the Venue for the next 
Meeting and it was

Resolved that:

Subject to availability: The Meeting scheduled for 24 
January 2019 to commence at 9.30 am be held at:

Option 1: Ysbyty Cwm Cynon, Mountain Ash, RCT

Option 2: Keir Hardie Health Park
 

8  Any Other Business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 8



 

 

 

CWM TAF PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD  
 

TUESDAY 23RD OCTOBER, 2018 – DRAFT Action Notes 
 

PRESENT: 

Professor Marcus Longley (Chair)  Cwm Taf University Health Board 

Councillor R Lewis (nominated deputy for Cllr 
Andrew Morgan) 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 

Councillor Kevin O’Neill Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Chris Bradshaw (Joint Vice Chair) Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 

Gareth Chapman (Joint Vice Chair) Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Ruth Treharne  (on behalf of Allison Williams) Cwm Taf University Health Board 

Huw Jakeway South Wales Fire & Rescue 

Kelechi Nnoaham Public Health, Cwm Taf University Health Board 

Richard Baker Welsh Government 

John Hogg 
 

Natural Resources Wales 
 Mark Brace Assistant Police and Crime Commissioner 

Chief Superintendent Belinda Davies South Wales Police 

Eirian Evans  National Probation Service 
Pauline Richards  

 

Interlink 

 
Ian Davy (On behalf of Anne Roberts) VAMT 

Rachel Rowlands Cwm Taf Social Services & Wellbeing Board 

IN ATTENDANCE:  

Deb Ryans-Newton Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Paul Mee Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 

Angela Jones Cwm Taf, Public Health Wales 

Janet Whiteman Interlink 

Kelly Wells PSB Support Manager 

Emma Wilkins Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 

Becky Davies NRW 

Councillor Bonetto Cwm Taf Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 
MTCBC County Borough Council 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Bridgend Public Service Board Members  

Darren Mepham ( Chair of Bridgend PSB) Bridgend CBC 

Heidi Bennett BAVO 

Judith Jones Bridgend CBC 

Martin Morgans Bridgend CBC 

Donna Baddeley Valleys to Coast Housing 

Alyson Francis Welsh Government 

Apologies  

Chief Constable Matt Jukes South Wales Police 

Anne Roberts   Voluntary Action Merthyr Tydfil 

Councillor T Skinner 
 
 

Cwm Taf Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 
MTCBC County Borough Council 

Allison Williams University Health Board 

Alyn Owen Merthyr Tydfil Council 

Richard Hughes Bridgend Council 

 

  

Page 10



 

 

No Item Outcome 
e.g. decision/direction/approval next steps 

1.  Welcome & 
Apologies 

The Chair welcomed Members of the PSB and Members of the 
Bridgend PSB to the meeting and for the benefit of all, introductions 
were made.  The Chair reminded Members of the merger of the Cwm 
Taf and Bridgend Health Boards and the discussions to be taken 
forward in respect of the opportunities presented to the two PSB’s. 
 
(Apologies for attendance were also provided.) 

 

2.  Declaration 
of Interest 

GC declared the following declaration of interest in respect of an 
information item on the agenda ‘ I am a Member of the Academi Wales 
Board’ 

3.  BRIDGEND / 
CWM TAF PSB 
- SHARING OF 
EXPERIENCES 

 

With the aid of PowerPoint presentations ( as attached) the Vice Chair of 
Cwm Taf PSB ( GC) and the Chair or Bridgend PSB (DM) provided Members 
with details of each of the PSB’s journey’s to date, their memberships, 
focus and objectives going forward, respectively. 
 
Following the presentations Members focussed their discussions around 
the following proposals:- 

 Should the PSB’s merge to become one PSB following the recent 
changes to the Boundary of the Health Boards?  

 If so, in principle, how should we take this forward? 

 What timescales should we set if the Boards were to merge? 
 
Members agreed that a merge of the two PSBs, creating a new PSB across 
the three authorities would allow a more effective and efficient way 
forward following the boundary review, recognising the commonality that 
both PSBs take forward.    
DM reiterated that further discussions would need to be taken forward at 
a meeting of the Bridgend PSB to agree in principle to  collaboration.   
 
Members recognised the challenges that would be presented with such an 
approach with some differences of membership and structures and the 
importance of maintaining delivery of services local to the communities 
that the Boards serve.  Members however welcomed the opportunity to 
further improve on the outcomes a merged PSB could bring.  It would 
provide the opportunity to review what currently works well, learn 
lessons, identify areas for improvement and revisit both plans through the 
lens of the Act. 
 
The Chair welcomed the positive response to the merging and took 
forward discussions around potential timeframes, commenting on the 
good work being taken forward by each of the Boards with their  
Wellbeing objectives and subsequent action plans, adding that neither 
Board would want to stall such work from progressing due to governance 
discussions. 

Page 11



 

 

No Item Outcome 
e.g. decision/direction/approval next steps 

 
Members agreed that the Boards should not be fixed on a timeframe and 
that work should commence in respect of the merger without 
compromising the good work already being undertaken, adding that a 
merge could be achievable between 12-18month. 
 
The Chair thanked everyone for their contributions to the discussion and 
offered to attend the Bridgend PSB meeting in December to discuss the 
proposals going forward, if needed. 
 

4.  Action Notes The Action Notes of the 17th July, 2018 were approved as an accurate 
reflection of the meeting. 

5.  Cwm Taf 
Well-Being 
Objective 
Delivery 
Plans 

Updates in respect of the  four Well-being Delivery Plans were provided to 
the Board by their respect leads: 
 
Thriving Communities / Community Zones (PM) – Details regarding the 
development of Community Zone approach and reference to the 
Ministerial Visit was provided to Members. PM advised delivery of the 
plan was on target for the majority of actions and that the plan is being 
refreshed for next year 
 
Healthy People (AJ) – first 1000 days is on track according to the delivery 
plan .  Members discussed the vulnerability profiling and the opportunities 
this brought forward, recognising that the sharing of data across 
organisations is  crucial to successful multi agency working.   Members 
were provided with an update in respect of the work completed to date 
with data sharing by Welsh Government which was added to by HJ in 
respect of the work with the Leadership Pledge. 
 
Strong economy (DN) – In the absence of the lead Officer DN provided 
Members with an update in respect of the delivery plan.  Members were 
advised that the delivery plan was still in the transformational phase and 
that a further update would be provided to the PSB support team 
following a meeting taking place that afternoon.   
 
Loneliness & Isolation – (ID) advised that this was now progressing well, , 
commenting that the route was to ensure that Communities were kept 
connected.  Members queried how the delivery plan was being assessed 
against impact and the differences that could be made?  ID referenced the 
national surveys that were also looking into loneliness and isolation and 
outcomes.  Members discussed the need to look at the evidence base and 
the potential of using the Welsh, English and Scottish strategies for 
establishing this evidence base.  Members also discussed the Welsh 
Baccalaureate and the volunteering opportunities. 
 

Page 12



 

 

No Item Outcome 
e.g. decision/direction/approval next steps 

Following further discussions Members Agreed 

 To note the progress of delivery against the four objectives. 

 That the Leads attend on a 6monthly cycle to provide updates in 
respect of the delivery plans with an update provided from the SPB 
chair in the interim periods. 

 

6.  SPB Update Members were provided with a report from the Vice Chair of the SPB 

outlining the discussions and actions taken forward at SPB meeting on 

the 18th September. 

 
1) Budget monitoring –The Chair updated that positive discussions 

were being taken forward in respect of this item. 
2) Joint Overview  and Scrutiny Committee Feedback 
3) Cwm Taf Well-being Plan – Delivery 
4) Cwm Taf Well-being Plan – Preparations for Future Delivery 

Plans 
5) Arrangements for Production of the PSB’s First Statutory Annual 

Report 
6) Information Communication and Engagement (ICE) Discussion  
7) One Small Change Campaign 
8) No Added Sugar (Drinks) PSB 
9) Information Reports / Documents 
10) Chairs Review 

 
The Board AGREED to note the content of the update. 
 

7.  Replacing all 
Added Sugar 
Drinks across 

public services 
in Cwm Taf 

 

AJ presented her paper to the Board which looked to explore the 

replacement of added sugar drinks with sugar free versions in all of the 

organisations that make up the Public Services Board.  The proposed 

policy will cover colleague restaurants, service user eateries and cafés, 

vending machines and any other operation that includes the sale of 

added sugar drinks for day to day use. This policy does not propose to 

cover in-patient units, social care and care homes.  

 

Members were advised of the findings of the Task and Finish group  

established to review the current provision and allow further 

consideration of the impact of the proposal. AJ reminded Members of 

the rationale for the proposal, the actions needed to be taken forward 

and the current and future requirements. 

 
The replacement of added sugar drinks is a sustainable and preventative 
measure to assist with the obesity and dental health issues within Cwm 
Taf.    Added sugar drinks are a known contributor to overweight and 
obesity as well as oral hygiene problems in children, adolescents and 

Page 13



 

 

No Item Outcome 
e.g. decision/direction/approval next steps 

adults. 
 

Members discussed the proposal and although were supportive in 

principle, some Members discussed the implications going forward 

within their own organsiations and the timeframe for implementing 

such a policy. 
 

 

Following discussions it was AGREED: 

 That implementation of the proposal would be taken forward on 

a phased approach, to allow organisations, service users and 

colleagues time to adapt to the policy 
 
 

8.  Forward Work 
Programme 

The Chair presented his report to the Board which provided Members 

with a proposed work plan for consideration and also provided future 

meeting dates going forward.  The Chair advised that the plan 

contained standing items but would also be a fluid document to allow 

for consideration of unplanned items of business, depending on forth 

coming priorities / needs. 

 

Members AGREED to: 
I. The meeting schedule for the PSB as outlined within the 

report;  
II. The draft work plan attached as Appendix 1 of the report.   

 
 

9.  Collaborative 
Development 
of Area 
Statement. - 
NRW 

Through the use of a powerpoint presentation (BD - NRW) provided 

Members with an overview of the collaborative development of area 

statements across Wales.  Members were advised of the legislative 

requirements, including the links to the 7 well being goals, the work 

completed to date and discussed how the PSB could become involved 

going forward.  

 

Members welcomed the presentation and the work carried out noting 

the benefits that such collaborative work could have on the residents of 

Cwm Taf. 

 

Members AGREED to note the contents of the presentation. 

 

10.  Any Other 
Business 

The Chair advised of an offer by Academi Wales for training on the 31st 
January 2019 and it was queried whether the January meeting date 
should be changed to incorporate this training.  Members AGREED to 
keep the date as is and  for the PSB Support Manager liaises with 

Page 14



 

 

No Item Outcome 
e.g. decision/direction/approval next steps 

Academi Wales in respect of bespoke future training. 
 
(KW) The PSB Support Manager advised Members of the offer received 
from the Future Generations Commissioner in respect of a systems 
thinking approach to ACES (Adverse Childhood Experiences) across Cwm 
Taf.  Members commented positively on the offer although it was noted 
that work was already taking place with SWP in respect of ACE and 
Members spoke of the need to prevent duplication of work and the need 
to work in parallel.  
KW advised of work taken forward by Torfaen Council (funded by WG) in 
respect of a review of the infrastructure and governance arrangements 
of PSB and that Cwm Taf PSB would be happy to contribute if required. 
 
RB advised of the Data Cymru National Event on the 22nd November and 
Agreed to forward details for all Members information. 

 

11.  Chairman’s 
Review 

The Chair thanked everyone for their contributions to the meeting, 
commenting on the positive discussions in respect of a potential merger 
and the agreed way forward with the No added Sugar report. 
 

12.  Information 
Reports 

The Chair referenced the information reports (as listed below), which 
were available through the ‘Our Cwm Taf’ website.  The Chair also took 
the opportunity to reiterate that going forward the agenda, reports and 
minutes for future Cwm Taf PSB meetings would be available publically 
through the ‘Our Cwm Taf’ website. 
 

 Letter from the FGC to the Chairs of PSB’s and RPB’s re: joint 

arrangements between the Boards – Draft Response to be circulated 

 Youth Report – Members to provide feedback on the report 

 Ministerial Visit 15.10.18 

 Creating Healthier places and spaces for our present and future 

generations.(link) 

 The Art of the possible (Future Generation Commissioner)  - Members 

commented on the potential ‘Quick Wins’  

 Rebecca Evans AC/AM Letter 

 Youth Agenda Conference 

 Academi -Offer of Training.- KW to review the date and ensure 

bespoke training is provided 

13.  Date of Next 
Meeting 

22nd January 2019 – 9am SWFR. 

The meeting terminated at 12pm     Professor M Longley 

                                                                                                                                       Chair 

Page 15

http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/888/Creating%20healthier%20places%20spaces.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

CWM TAF STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD 
Tuesday 6 November 2018 

South Wales Fire & Rescue Service Headquarters 
Llantrisant 

Action Notes 
Attendees  

Kelechi Nnoaham Cwm Taf UHB (Chair) 

Nigel Williams  South Wales Fire and Rescue Service  

Nadia De Longhi Natural Resources Wales (Vice-Chair) 

Ian Davy  VAMT  

Simon James  Interlink  

Sue Walker Merthyr Tydfil CBC  

Lesley Lawson RCTCBC 

Ruth Treharne Cwm Taf UHB 

Paul Mee RCTCBC 

Andrew Mogford MTCBC 

Chris Lee RCTCBC 

Mark Brace SWPCC 

Chris Hole MTCBC 

Maureen Howells Welsh Government / Valleys Taskforce 

Ann Unitt Public Health Wales 

P
age 17

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/objectives


 

Naomi Drew SWP 

 
Apologies  

Alan Lawrie NHS 

Alyn Owen MTCBC 

Felicity Waters Cwm Taf UHB 

Phil Ashby SWP 

Angela Jones Public Health wales 

Ellis Cooper MTCBC 

 
In attendance  

Kelly Wells Cwm Taf Partnership Support Manger 

Kirsty Smith Cwm Taf Partnership Support Officer 

Lisa Toghill Cwm Taf Partnership Support Officer 

Julie Griffin South Wales Fire and Rescue Service  

Nicola Davies South Wales Fire and Rescue Service 

 
 

 Item  Outcome e.g. decision/direction/approval/next steps 

1.  WELCOME AND 
APOLOGIES 

The Chair welcomed all to the meeting.  Apologies were noted and 
introductions made. 
 

2. D DECLARATION OF INTEREST There were no declarations of interest. 

3. M
I
E 

MINUTES AND ACTION LOG 
FROM MEETING HELD 26 
SEPTEMBER 2018 

The actions of the meeting held 18th September 2018 were agreed as 
a true record. 
 

P
age 18



 Item  Outcome e.g. decision/direction/approval/next steps 

K Wells advised that all actions are on track for completion by the 
deadlines. 
 

4.  CWM TAF WELL-BEING 
PLAN - DELIVERY 

The Chair reminded that when the Plan and the four areas of focus 
were agreed with the Leads, it was agreed that SPB would provide 
consideration, challenge and critique, thus holding each other to 
account.  He invited all to listen to the updates given by the Leads and 
provide constructive challenge to keep the focus on delivering the 
outcomes. 
 
The reports circulated with the agenda were noted, with the following 
observations from Leads. 
 
(i) Thriving Communities/Community Zones – Rhondda 
Fach/Merthyr Tydfil (Paul Mee) 
Paul Mee advised that overall good progress is being made.  The two 
delivery plans are at different stages of development.   Out to tender 
for the work to complete the Rhondda Fach hub, capital work due to  
commence within next few weeks; currently looking at capacity and 
committee.  Of note: 
 

 Working in partnership with the membership of the 
Community Hub 

 Awaiting required funding to support development of aspects 
of the  Hub, also awaiting confirmation from ICF but this is not 
stopping forward movement. Seed funding received and Pen Y 
Cymoedd funding has been secured.  

P
age 19



 

 Item  Outcome e.g. decision/direction/approval/next steps 

 Mindful of role of universal credit and services to put support 
in place 

 Involving diverse groups in the development of the 
Community Zone, Rhondda in particular, need to consider 
priorities for next quarter. 

 Community Hub and Zone opening launch in spring 2019, with 
specialist training being rolled out for Hub staff 

In The Gurnos Hub, ICF funding has been secured to allow the ground 
floor space to be reshaped. 

 Developing all MoU’s for partners in order to shape how they 
do things differently, understand the needs of their 
community and what it is that they are going to do.   

 Met with social landlords, started looking at system they have 
in place for Vulnerability profiling, and understanding on a 
household level.  Some other services fit into the system.  
Looking at a database, exploring going forward.   

 Focussing on building and community work, management 
board for the Hub, how we engage community in shaping their 
future. 

The focus of the strategic group will be on what happens next and 
refreshing the delivery plan and developing a service model, especially 
linked to South Wales Police’s ‘Early Action Together’ work linked to 
ACEs 

 
(ii) Healthy People (Ann Unitt for Angela Jones) 

 Progressing well, lots of work on sexual health and 
vulnerability profiling. A business case had been submitted 
regarding support for the profiling work and looked on 

P
age 20



 Item  Outcome e.g. decision/direction/approval/next steps 

favourably, with a decision expected imminently. The chair 
acknowledged that this  would be a game changer, and asked 
that any barriers be highlighted as soon as possible. 

 One Small Change (1SC) programme – RCT Health and Well-
being event taking place 23 January 2019, 1SC will be there 
making a pledge 

 Agreed sign up page be relocated from the Health Board 
website to the ‘Our Cwm Taf’ website, to allow partners to 
utilise resources to fit in with their health and wellbeing 
events. 

 2.1b, Keeping people healthier for longer needs to commence 
in January but there are capacity issues, discussed whether 
this could align with the Older People Plan, being led by the 
RPB.  Decision to be made in January 2019.  
 

(iii) Strong Economy (Andrew Mogford for Alyn Owen) 

 Plan is green, no issues and no escalation to PSB. 

 Groups have now merged and met, Plans circulated and 
developed around the 5 strands. 

 Substantial work around schools engagement, tourism 
diagnostic assessment and link between education, learning 
and skills.  Linking the two strategies is important 

 Work continuing on employability pledge, bring back in 
January for discussion   

 Graduate is looking at how the work of the group aligns to 
national strategies such as City Deal and Valleys taskforce 
whilst focusing on what the group can deliver 

P
age 21



 

 Item  Outcome e.g. decision/direction/approval/next steps 

 Engagement with schools has taken place, things done 
differently but linking with schools, and message is starting to 
infiltrate.  Part of base line for moving forward. 

 Considering wider engagement re: Further Education 
providers and large employers / housing associations to 
ensure effectively meet the requirements of the plan.  

 
The Chair advised that members of the Bridgend PSB attended the last 
Cwm Taf PSB meeting, both shared their evolution and their two 
different journeys.  If the future is one PSB, consideration needs to be 
given to what kind of PSB we want to create, and whether to rethink 
the creation of a space on the Board for other partners. 
 
(iv) Tackling Loneliness and Isolation (Ian Davy) 

 Successful volunteer fayres taken place within Treorchy 
Comprehensive and Merthyr College and a follow up meeting 
has taken place with the school. Third sector survey went well 
and had some good responses but a template sent to public 
sector partners had very little information returned. A 
summary of survey findings has been produced, alongside a 
summary of research undertaken in this area 

 Issue around the connections between the PSB and RPB 
following a discussion at Transformation Leadership Group 
(TLG).  Consideration needs to be given to ‘social prescribing’ 
and ensuring all are connected up.  It has been agreed to look 
at running pilots with Building Communities Trust in   Merthyr 
Vale and Penywaun 

 

P
age 22



 Item  Outcome e.g. decision/direction/approval/next steps 

The chair advised that further discussion is required around primary 
care and social prescribing.  Need to consider where we are, what we 
have, what is missing and how to fill in the gaps. 
 
The Chair thanked the leads for their progress reports, and 
acknowledged the progress made on Year 1 delivery, which has laid 
the foundations for year 2 onwards. .  Moving to Year 2/  and beyond 
, the Chair noted that the delivery plans need to be more outcome 
focused and demonstrate the tangible differences being made by 
implementing the Well-being Plan of the PSB   We need start to 
consider what success will look like and what indicators can be used 
to measure that it is being achieved.   
The Chair advised that there would be a workshop at the January SPB 
to start to consider the evaluation and performance-monitoring 
framework for the delivery of the Well-being plan. This will utilise 
lessons learnt from the first year delivery. 
 
To demonstrate real differences being made, Members suggested   
filming short pieces within the communities, as case studies  Felicity 
Waters to be tasked to consider, as lead for Communication.  This will 
link to the newsletters and annual report requirements. 
 
The Chair confirmed that Objective Leads will only be required to 
attend PSB bi-annually, or on request, to update on the delivery plans.  
An update report will be provided to each PSB by the Chair of SPB.   
 
Action(s)  

P
age 23



 

 Item  Outcome e.g. decision/direction/approval/next steps 

 Workshop at January SPB to determine evaluation and 
performance monitoring framework for delivery of the Well-
being Plan from year 2 onwards. 

 Felicity Waters to be asked to consider filming of case studies 
to demonstrate differences made.   

 Update report to each PSB from the Chair of SPB, Objective 
Leads to attend PSB bi-annually, or on request. 

5.  CWM TAF WELL-BEING 
PLAN – RISK REGISTER 
 

Discussion regarding existing risks, proposed template and production 
of a PSB Risk Register 
 
Risk register is on Agenda for the January meeting.  Need to consider 
how risk been calculated and who owns risks. 
 
KThe Chair gave the background to set the scene for the session at the 
January SPB.  There are a number of things to consider, such as who 
owns risks - the board or individuals, and the scoring model, to enable 
the Support Team to produce the next iteration. 
 
It was agreed that the template was satisfactory and that the Support 
Team would agree a simple scoring model with the Objective Leads.  
Risks can be scored and brought back for further discussion re: 
ownership at the January SPB. 
 
Ruth Treharne queried whether other PSBs has a risk register that can 
be utilised.  K wells confirmed she would be visiting Bridgend in 
November and can discuss this further.  . 
 
Action(s) 

P
age 24



 Item  Outcome e.g. decision/direction/approval/next steps 

 KW to establish whether Bridgend have a risk register and any 
lessons learnt. 

 Scoring Model to be agreed and Objective Leads to score risks 
prior to January SPB. 

 Session to be held at January SPB to discuss ownership of risks 
 

6.  ARRANGEMENTS TO 
SUPPORT THE 
PRODUCTION OF THE PSB’S 
FIRST STATUTORY ANNUAL 
REPORT 

Workshop led by Nadia DeLonghi: identification of further 
collaboration opportunities, initiatives and agreement of items for 
inclusion in annual report – template provided for completion. 
 
A template had been sent to partners previously for their completion 
and feedback today.  Attendees were requested to work in pairs for 
15 minutes, discussing projects that are currently ongoing, for further 
discussion as a group. 
 
Group discussion consisted of: 

 Employee wellbeing 

 Keep Wales tidy 

 vulnerability working 

 Volunteering 

 Team Community Projects 

 Well-being strategy 

 Healthier Wales 

 Safe & Well visits 

 Stay Well at Home 
 
At the end of the session Nadia DeLonghi thanked all for their 
participation and requested completed forms be sent to her.  

P
age 25



 

 Item  Outcome e.g. decision/direction/approval/next steps 

Examples will be collated and circulated to partners for further review.  
A further update will be provided at the January SPB. 
 
Action(s) 

 Completed templates to be returned to Support Team for 
collation and circulation to all partners.  Update to be provided 
at January SPB. 

 
 

7.  UPDATES FROM BOARDS The Chair advised that the receiving of reports to this Board will be 
considered on review of the  Terms of Reference are reviewed. 
 
(I) Cwm Taf Community Safety Board 
Update given, report noted. 
 
 (ii) Substance Misuse Safety Partnership Board 
Update given, report noted. 
 
 (iii) Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board (presented at meeting) 
No representative available to provide update at meeting. 
 
(iv) Cwm Taf Together for Mental Health Partnership Board 
Update given, report noted. 
 
 (v) Regional Planning Board 
Update given, report noted. 
 

P
age 26



 Item  Outcome e.g. decision/direction/approval/next steps 

 (vi) Information, Communication and Engagement  
(Involvement) - ICE 
Discussions ensued in relation to the offer from the FGCO to provide 
support with regards to an ACES initiative (providing resources).  PSB 
have agreed to consider the offer and a meeting is taking place with 
the FGC Office and ACES Hub  A request has also been received from 
Probation to look at Offender Management..    These would be ‘citizen 
centred’ approaches, e.g. ‘Yasmin’s Journey’ and S James will be 
involved to consider the Involvement requirements.    
Draft Newsletter – Draft Newsletter was considered.  Any news 
worthy articles around the five ways of working and the Act to be sent 
to the Support Team  asap for inclusion and publishing. 
 
 (vii) Valleys Task Force 
Presentation was given reflecting on progress so far and the next 
phase of the delivery plan.  
 
Transport is a number one issue, a better joined up, affordable 
transport system is needed. 
 
Action(s) 

 Reports to Board to be considered further on review of TOR’s 

 Representatives to be present for Board Update Reports 

 Articles for newsletter to be forwarded to Support Team 
 
 

8.  FORWARD WORK 
PROGRAMME 

The Forward Work Programme and meeting schedule was noted.  
 

P
age 27



 

 Item  Outcome e.g. decision/direction/approval/next steps 

 This will be a standing information item for future meetings.  
 
The Academi Wales training is being further considered by PSB before 
securing a date. 
 

9.  ANY OTHER BUSINESS Data Cymru Wales – National Intelligence Event, November2018 
K Smith, PSB Support Officer and Phil Ashby are attending the event, 
there is one more space available.  
Action(s) 

 Members to advise Support Team if they would like to secure 
the available space. 

 

10.  CHAIR’S VIEW The Chair invited attendees to review this meeting; what has worked 
and what can be done to improve.  
 
It was generally felt it was a positive meeting, with more emphasis on 
the actions / risk log and becoming more performance management driven, 

focused on demonstrating delivery of impacts / outcomes.   
 
There were some suggestions made which included the need for a 
deeper understanding of other workstreams; how do we demonstrate 
the five ways of working and  a visualisation of how the objectives link 
up. Alternating business meetings with workshops was also 
suggested.  Six weekly business meetings require administration and 
it can be difficult to demonstrate progress.  Time could be better spent 
on delivery if business SPB Meetings were less frequent. 
 

P
age 28



 Item  Outcome e.g. decision/direction/approval/next steps 

The Chair commented that there is scope to run workshops in place 
of meetings and this will be taken forward with the Support Team . 
 
The Chair advised that it was the intention to add ‘Feedback from PSB’ 
as a standing agenda item.  He gave feedback from the last PSB 
meeting, which included the presentation given by Bridgend PSB, and 
PSB agreed to the implantation of the ‘No Added Sugar’ being phased 
in from April. 
Action(s) 

 to consider alternative format to meetings to allow more 
discussion and focus on topics where a difference can be made 

 Feedback from PSB to be added as a standing item to the 
agenda 

 

11.  NEXT MEETING The next meeting is scheduled to take place on Tuesday 8th January 
2019 

 

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

                                                     
 
CWM TAF PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD - JOINT OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE                     

 

 

 

 

Overview of Cwm Taf Well-being Objectives Delivery Plans 

 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 

 
1.1 To provide the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Committee) with oversight 

of the progress made against the Cwm Taf Well-being Plan Objective ‘Healthy 
People’. 
 
The report of the Strategic Partnership Board (SPB) attached at Appendix 1 sets 
out progress made in respect of Health People 1st year delivery plan.    This report 
was presented to the SPB at its most recent meeting on the 08th of January 2019. 
 
Angela Jones, Consultant in Public Health for Cwm Taf Public Health Team, is the 
Lead for Healthy People and will present the report to Committee.  
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 The Committee is requested to review the SPB Report at Appendix 1 and :- 
i. Consider :- 

a) the extent of progress to date,  

b) the extent to which it is evident that differences are being made to 
communities and citizens within Cwm Taf in improving the Social, 
Economic, Environmental and Cultural Well-being of the area.  
 

ii. Identify any further information it would like to consider in support of the 
delivery of the Well-being Plan and how this could be most effectively 
presented to Committee at future meetings. 

 
  

Report Author Angela Jones – Lead Healthy 
People  

Committee Date 24.01.2019 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
3.1 As Members are aware, the Cwm Taf Well-being Plan 2018-2023 was published 

on the 4th of May 2018 and contained four Objectives:- 
 

 Thriving Communities 

 Healthy People 

 Strong Economy 

 Loneliness & Isolation (cross cutting Objective)  
 
The Delivery Plans for each objective within the Well-being Plan were approved by 
the Public Service Board (PSB) in July 2018.    These delivery plans were aimed 
at addressing the immediate steps within the Well-being Plan.  
 
An overview of each Delivery Plan was subsequently presented to Committee in 
September 2018.  At that meeting, Committee determined that each Objective 
would be scrutinised in more detail at a future meeting. 
 
Healthy People is the second Objective to receive this further scrutiny. 
 

4.0 CURRENT POSITON  
 

4.1 Detailed scrutiny of the progress made against delivery plans for each objective 
takes place at the SPB.  An overarching report, of all four Objectives, is then 
submitted to the PSB by the Chair of SPB.    

 
The current progress report to SPB, with regards to delivery against the Healthy 
People Objective, is included at Appendix 1.  

 
Both SPB and PSB have considered whether the monitoring reports provide 
enough assurance to Members as to the progress in respect of each the Well-
being Objectives.   

 
It is recognised that the delivery of the plan is in its infancy and it is equally 
important to monitor and measure how we are doing things differently as a 
partnership.  It is also widely accepted that the impact of the work undertaken on 
the Objectives may be difficult to measure short term and the Welsh Government 
and Data Cymru are providing support to assist PSB’s with addressing this.  
Specifically in respect of Cwm Taf PSB, Data Cymru are assisting with developing 
an outcomes based evaluation framework to measure the differences made via 
delivery of the Well-being plan. 

 
To assist with monitoring performance and progress, in addition to a RAG rated 
delivery plan and information / data relevant to each objective, the SPB receive a 
Highlight / Exception report.  This Highlight / Exception reports aim to capture key 
achievements, other activities (outside the delivery plans) that contribute to the 
Well-being Plan, what is working well and what is not working well, in addition to 
risks and issues that require escalation to the PSB.   

N.B. The Highlight/Exception Report for Health People contains progress 
updates on the removal of added sugar drinks from PSB partner 
organisations and the One Small Change Campaign, to promote one healthy 
behaviour change for the public sector workforce.  These areas of work are 
over and above what is recorded and measured in the Delivery Plan. Page 32



 
  
5.0 FUTURE REQUIREMENTS   
 
5.1 

 
At the most recent SPB in January 2019 the performance management / evaluation 
framework was considered at a workshop facilitated by Data Cymru.  It was agreed 
that Data Cymru would make outcome measure proposals based on a workshop 
discussion at the meeting.  These will be considered as part of the development of 
the new Delivery Plans going forward and shared to inform the Outcome Framework 
discussion with the Early Years Co-Construction Programme. 
  
Consideration also continues to be given to the change of boundaries for Bridgend 
PSB and any impact that this may have on the delivery of Cwm Taf PSB Objectives. 
Initially, a meeting has been arranged in January with the Bridgend Lead for the 
Early Years Objective of their Well-Being Plan to explore opportunities for joint 
working.  
 
Further updates will be provided to Committee as this work progresses.   
 
 

6.0 NEXT STEPS 
 

6.1 The priorities for the Healthy People Objective over the next quarter include:- 
 

 Appointing a Lead to develop and deliver vulnerability profiling and data sharing 
agreements. 

 Sharing the evidence base for interventions for pre-pregnancy and early years 

 Commissioning a review of the effectiveness of sexual health prevention services 
to support vulnerable women.  

 Preparing for the launch of sugar free drinks across partner organisations 

 Supporting partner organisations in rolling out the One Small Change campaign 
for the benefit of staff. 

 Identifying resources to lead and progress a prevention work stream for objective 
2.1b, helping people to stay healthier for longer.  

 
 
Angela Jones  
Lead for Healthy People Objective  
Cwm Taf Public Service Board 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Highlight / Exception Report_(Healthy People) _SPBJAN19 

Cwm Taf PSB – Strategic Partnership Board 
 

Highlight / Exception Reporting from Objective Leads  
 
Agenda No SPBJan19_13.1 

Well-being 
Objective  /Group 
Name 

Healthy People – First 1000 Days 
 

Lead Officer Angela Jones, Cwm Taf Public Health 

Key 
Achievements 
and any quick 
wins 
 

Date Red Amber Green White 

8/01/2019 0 0 0 18 

6/11/2018 0 0 0 18 

18/09/2018 0 0 6 12 

 
See Appendix 1 (Delivery Plan) and 2 (Data 
Measures) for details of progress against delivery 
plans and measures. 

 Completed the mapping of the pathways from 

conception to age 7 including health, education, 

play and parenting provisions.  Finalising 

completed version which will be shared within 

Early Years Co-Construction project 

 Funding approved from WG to provide a 1 year 

post to drive the vulnerability profiling work, in 

relation to data sharing agreements and setting up 

the profile 

 

Other Activities 
that contribute to 
the delivery of the 
Well-being plan.   
 

 Removal of added sugar drinks – partners have 

been invited to attend a task and finish group to 

undertake the work required by July 2019. 

 One Small Change Campaign – report to 

SPB/PSB January 2019.  As a result of 

consultation feedback, a voluntary roll out to 

partner organisations, who wish to participate, will 

be implemented in January.  The toolkit will be 

published on Our Cwm Taf for partners’ use. 

What is working 
well and how is 
this being done 
differently (5 
WOWs)? 

 WG funded post to drive the development and 

setting up of vulnerability profile. 

 Removal of Added Sugar Drinks – agreement by 

partners to implement by July 2019 

What is not 
working well and 
what are the  
challenges / 
risks? 
 

The delivery of Objective 2.1.b to keep people 
healthier for longer is a challenge given the complexity 
of this objective and the capacity to lead and deliver.  
This could be discharged through the RPB to lead, 
given their Cwm Taf Ageing Well Plan and being a 
priority group within the Area Plan.  This will be 

Page 35

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/


 

Highlight / Exception Report_(Healthy People) _SPBJAN19 

 explored along with the support of an Acting 
Consultant in Public Health from January 2019 

Priorities for Next 
Quarter 

 Appoint a Lead to develop and deliver vulnerability 
profiling and data sharing agreements. 

 Share evidence base for interventions for maternal 
and early years 

 Commission a review of the effectiveness of 
sexual health prevention services to support 
vulnerable women.  

What needs to be 
escalated to 
PSB? 

Nothing at this stage. 

What else can 
SPB members do 
to progress this 
Objective? Inc. 
information / 
comms and 
Engagement. 

 Further discussion of the proposal to deliver 

Objective 2.1b through the RPB, with advice and 

challenge role from PSB lead. 

 

Page 36

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/


SPBJAN19_Item13.1_HealthyPeople_Appendix 1

Action that will Deliver Objective 

('What we need to do")

Ref 

Milestones / Sub Actions  ("How will we do it")

Delivery 

Date 
"Timescales"

Lead "who is 

responsible inc 

Governance 

Arrangements"

Progress - RAG (as at 31/12/18)

1

Sharing the system mapping with the Cwm Taf and Bridgend PSB, Regional 

Partnership Board, professionals, community hubs, service users to: 

a.  promote better understanding of the complexity of pathways and 

determine the governance of planning and service delivery            b.      

initiate innovative ways to simplify the system                                           c.       

promote easier access to service                                                                         

d.      Ensure effective governance

June - 

Nov 2018

Angela Jones/Zoe 

Lancelot. ICE sub 

group 

Finalise the system mapping completed at event 

and share through the Early Years Co-

Construction Project.

2 Explore the benefits of a Single Point of Contact for access to services Mar-19
Public Health 

Team/PHW?

To consider duplication with Thriving 

Communities 1.1.1c RCT and 1.1.2c Gurnos.  To 

look at SPOC in terms of IAA and referrals.

3

Explore the benefits of a ‘trusted person’ to help vulnerable people 

navigate the system, including routine enquiry, motivational interviewing, 

goal setting

Jun-19

Currently working on data for vulnerability 

profiling, in relation to evidence on importance 

of early years, current and potential 

interventions, return on investment on 

interventions.

4

Review acceptability and effectiveness of parenting programmes with 

service users (to include the importance of attachment) with a view to 

optimising programmes.

Jun-19
Local Authorities 

(completed by MT)

Review to be completed by March 19.  Will be 

dependant on Vulnerability Profiling outcomes.

5 Training: ACE aware professionals and communities Jan-19 PHW

Cwm Taf specific event for staff and partners of 

Community Zones to be held on the 04/02/19.  A 

further school training event scheduled for 

09/01/19.

1 Define information and data sources of interest Nov-18
Angela Jones with PSB 

Leads for services

Funding secured from WG to appoint a lead for 

Vulnerability Profile and data sharing 

agreements. Role to commence March 2019.

2 Agree Information sharing protocol
Mar 19-

20

Principle agreed, new role to work through the 

detail of information needed and data sharing 

protocol.

3 Risk profiling based upon all data sources Jun-19
Not due.

4 Identifying priority risk groups for interventions Sep-19
Not due.

5
Explore funding flexibilities to support and target early interventions 

(midwifery and Health Visitor led)

Mar 19-

Mar 20 Not due.

1
Using data and risk profile of parents of CLA 0-1 years, identify priority 

groups to target contraceptive outreach 
Mar-19

Sexual Health 

Advisory Board with 

LA Children’s Services

Agreement and funding in place to scope the 

work and commission investigation into high risk 

groups; meeting with vulnerable service users to 

gain their views on most appropriate forms of 

contraception, through co-produced methods.

Vulnerability profiling - Agree a data 

sharing protocol and implement to A) 

identify risk factors for vulnerablility, 

B) target actions for prevention / 

early intervention and C) identify 

appropriate outcome measures

Actions Milestones

System-wide approach

Preventing unplanned pregnancies - 

to target more effectively vulnerable 

women to prevent unplanned 

pregnancies through promotion and 

easy access to long acting reversible 

contraception (LARC) 

P
age 37



SPBJAN19_Item13.1_HealthyPeople_Appendix 1

Action that will Deliver Objective 

('What we need to do")

Ref 

Milestones / Sub Actions  ("How will we do it")

Delivery 

Date 
"Timescales"

Lead "who is 

responsible inc 

Governance 

Arrangements"

Progress - RAG (as at 31/12/18)

2

Identify and implement appropriate contraceptive outreach, working with 

“trusted key workers” in targeted services, having regard to current good 

practice by engaging partners working with priority groups.

Mar 19-

20

All PSB Partners. ICE 

subgroup

To be included in 2019-2020 plan.

1 Promote attachment of infant:parents Mar-20 Health Visitors 
To be included in 2019-2020 plan, informed by 

Wellcom Assessment.

2
Optimise support/referral to interventions to support healthy growth, play 

and development through the Healthy Child Wales Programme
Mar-20 Health Visitors

To be included in 2019-2020 plan.

3
Early identification of speech and language: timing of health visitor 

assessment Jun-19
Speech and Language 

Therapists

To be included in 2019-2020 plan.

4 Engagement and knowledge of parents with ‘school readiness’ Mar-20

Health Visitors, 

schools, early years 

settings and ICE Sub 

Group

To be included in 2019-2020 plan.

5 Review transition in to schools Mar-20

Health Visitors, 

schools, early years 

settings and ICE Sub 

Group

To be included in 2019-2020 plan.

1

Undertake review to include content, delivery, timing of delivery and 

uptake by vulnerable groups and having regard to the recommendations in 

The Future of the Sex and Relationships Education Curriculum in Wales

Jun-19

Sexual Health 

Advisory Board, 

School Nurses and 

schools

To be included in 2019-2020 plan.

2 Recommendations to be implemented Sep-19

Sexual Health 

Advisory Board, 

School Nurses and 

schools

To be included in 2019-2020 plan.

Improving Education: Reviewing sex 

and relationships education (SRE) and 

personal social education (PSE) in 

secondary school. To focus on the 

importance healthy relationships, 

health and well-being prior to 

conception for males and females.

Preventing unplanned pregnancies - 

to target more effectively vulnerable 

women to prevent unplanned 

pregnancies through promotion and 

easy access to long acting reversible 

contraception (LARC) 

Increasing School Readiness 

P
age 38



SPBJan19_Item13.1_HealthyPeople_Appendix2

Local/

National Cwm Taf Wales Merthyr RCT Cwm Taf Wales Merthyr RCT

Healthy PeopleHP1

Local and 

National

Percentage of vulnerable clients with active 

LARC (data development need) Increase Various

Healthy PeopleHP2 Local Risk factors in pregnancy Decrease Midwives (MITS)

Healthy PeopleHP3

Local and 

National Low birth weight rates 6.50% 7.40% 7.20% 5.60% Decrease Midwives (MITS)

Healthy PeopleHP4

Local and 

National Initiation of breast feeding Increase Midwives (MITS)

Healthy PeopleHP5

Local and 

National Breastfeeding at 6 months Increase Health visitors

Healthy PeopleHP6

Local and 

National Children Looked After at , year 1 and year 2 Decrease Children's services

Healthy PeopleHP7

Local and 

National

Children meeting their development goals e.g. 

weight, language development, physical 

development Increase Health visitors

Direction of 

travel
Frequency

Responsible 

partner
CommentObjective

2017/18 Actual 2018/19
PI ref PI description

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                     
 
CWM TAF PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD - JOINT OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE                     

 

 

 

 
  

Update Report on the Work of the Information, Communication and Engagement 
(ICE) Group 

 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 

 
1.1 To provide the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Committee) with oversight 

of the role of and work undertaken by the Information, Communication and 
Engagement (ICE) working group for the Cwm Taf Public Services Board. 
 
The most recent report from ICE, presented to the Strategic Partnership Board 
(SPB) at its meeting on the 8th January 2019 is attached at Appendix 1.  This sets 
out progress made in respect of the ICE Group in this reporting year.     
 
Members are asked to note that, due to the unexpected absence of the ICE Chair, 
the report was not considered in full at the January SPB and the recommendations 
within the report, including the ICE Terms of Reference and Strategy, will be 
submitted for approval at the February SPB.   
 
The Newsletter was approved for publication due to the need to ensure the 
information contained was timely.  In addition, the SPB had previously considered 
an earlier draft version. 
 
Simon James, Chief Executive Officer of Interlink RCT, the Chair of ICE will 
present this report to Committee.  
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 The Committee is requested to: 
 

i. Consider the recent Strategic Partnership Boards ICE report and appendices at 
Appendix 1, and provide any feedback ahead of approval at SPB in February 
2019.  

 
ii. Identify any further information it would like to consider in support of the 

delivery of the Well-being Plan and the wider remit of the PSB in respect of 
Information, Communication and Engagement. 

 

Report Author Simon James – Chair, 
Information, Communication and 
Engagement / Involvement (ICE) 
Group 

Committee Date 24.01.2019 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 As Members are aware, the Cwm Taf Well-being Plan 2018-2023 was published 
on the 4th of May 2018 and contained four Objectives:- 
 

 Thriving Communities 
 Healthy People 
 Strong Economy 
 Loneliness & Isolation (cross cutting Objective)  

 
The ICE Group was set up prior to the Well-Being Plan being published to ensure 
that these areas were being managed and led throughout the work of the PSB.  
Membership consists of information, communications and 
consultation/engagement officers from partner organisations.   
 
The key purpose of the group is to: 
 

 raise the profile of the PSB to increase awareness of its work; 

 communicate its key objectives simply;  

 involve the public in helping to identify solutions to the wider issues facing 
their community 

 make effective use of and share the information we collect to improve public 
services 

 
4.0 CURRENT POSITON  

 
4.1 Since its inception the ICE Group have operated as one combined group of 

officers from information, communications and engagement backgrounds.  They 
meet on a 6 -8 weekly cycle to consider and provide support to the work of the 
PSB and its Well-Being Plan in relation to the three areas.   

 

A draft newsletter has been pulled together via the group and this was approved 
for publication at the January SPB. 

 

Following a recent review of the group, it was proposed that the group restructure 
to focus on the key areas of expertise and work on a task and finish basis for key 
activities and priorities.  This has formed separate work streams for :-  

 Information and Data Lead by an officer from South Wales Police, 

 Communications Lead by  an officer from Public Health 

 Engagement / Involvement – Lead by Simon James, the Chair of ICE. 
 
It is envisaged that this will provide clarity for each of the groups and will be easier 
to support, in addition to increasing momentum against delivery. 

 
These Leads will meet with working groups as required to drive delivery and will 
meet collectively as leads on an agreed basis to provide updates to SPB / PSB.  

 
Based on this restructure, the Group have recently developed their Terms of 
Reference and a  three year Strategy based on the new group structure and 
associated work streams.   This is included in more detailed at Appendix 1.   

  
  

Page 42



5.0 FUTURE REQUIREMENTS   
 
5.1 

 

In light of the delivery of the Well-Being Plan being in its infancy and the agreement 
by partners to monitor and measure how we are doing things differently as a 
partnership,  Data Cymru are supporting the SPB to develop an outcomes based 
evaluation framework to measure the difference made, moving in to Year 2.  

 

The work of the ICE Group will be influenced and driven by the direction of the Plan 
and it proposed outcomes.   There is also a  Year 1 activities plan within the 
Strategy, which outlines initial actions in relation to Information, Communication and 
Engagement work streams.  

 
 

6.0 NEXT STEPS 
 
 SPB to approve the ICE Strategy and Terms of Reference 
 Publication of the Newsletter before the end of January 2019 
 Subject to approval, setting up of task and finish groups, for the three themes, to 

drive the activities plan and any new identified priorities from the PSB/SPB as 
they arise. 

 

 
Simon James  
Chair, Information, Communication and Engagement Group 
Cwm Taf Public Service Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Board Update (ICE) _SPBJan19_7VI 

Cwm Taf PSB – Strategic Partnership Board 
 

Update from Boards 
 

Agenda No SPBJAN19_7vi 

Name of Board 
 

Information, Communication and Engagement (Involvement) 
Group 

Chair  Simon James 

Current focus for 
the Board 

 

 The Communication Lead and support team have been 
working on the Newsletter, ICE Strategy and Terms of 
Reference. and these are presented to SPB at Appendix 1, 
2 and 3 as part of this update. 

 The Information and Intelligence work stream have focussed 
on the website and meeting the requirements of the Welsh 
Government funding bid that they have assumed 
responsibility for. Work is progressing with Data Cymru to 
make the ‘Our information’ sections of the website more 
user-friendly for the wider audience, and support an 
information, advice and assistance function. Work on 
developing a dashboard linked to the PSB performance 
monitoring framework will progress once measures are 
agreed. 

 Currently liaising with the Youth Forums for Merthyr and RCT 
to determine their requirements from the PSB at their joint 
meeting in March 2019. 

 At the ICE meeting on the 12th December 2018 it was agreed 
that the structure of the group would be amended.  Each 
Lead will have a sub group to deliver against the information 
/ data, communication and involvement requirements.  This 
will allow the support team to directly support the working 
groups and provide further support and assistance to the 
Leads. 

 The Information and Intelligence work stream will continue to 
deliver against the relevant Welsh Government funding bid 
requirements and demonstrating delivery of objectives / 
performance against identified measures. 

 The Communication and Engagement / Involvement work 
streams will determine their requirements and this will be 
constructively challenged when the ICE leads meet with the 
support team prior to SPB updates.   It is envisaged that they 
will include responsibility for news stories for publication on 
the website and newsletter, events and engagement 
calendars, any consultations / community events and to re-
establish the network for sharing best practice.  It will also 
include engagement and involvement of citizens, specifically 
young people 

Page 45

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/


 

Board Update (ICE) _SPBJan19_7VI 

 The ICE requirements moving forward will be determined at 
the same time as setting the delivery plans for 2019/20 
onwards. 

 The ‘News and Events’ section continues to be updated with 
relevant updates supplied by partners, invitations to 
community events held linked to the Objectives – particularly 
the Community Zones work – and provides feedback and 
updates following the meet (e.g. Rhondda Fach greening 
project feedback)   

  
 

 Working with young people on animation of the Well-being of 
the Future Generations Act.  This is now is draft format and 
will be presented to PSB in April. 

 Good news stories are covered in the newsletter set for 
publication in January. 

Challenges for 
consideration by 
the SPB 

 To be clear of the ICE requirements when setting the delivery 
plans from 2019/20 onwards.  Including resource 
requirements re: marketing / publications, welsh language 
and a steer on the performance to be measured and 
reported.  The latter will discussed at the workshop with Data 
Cymru in the January SPB. 

 Agreement to publish the newsletter attached at Appendix 1, 
which is being re-submitted for points of accuracy only.    It is 
noted that the reference to the Ministerial Visit will need to be 
updated to show ‘former’ Minister. If the newsletter is not 
published in January, the content will become out of date. 

 Consideration needs to be given to the translation 
requirements for the newsletter. 

 Consider the draft ICE strategy at Appendix 2.  This will 
form the foundations for each of the ICE work streams.  

 Approve the ICE Terms of Reference – Appendix 3 

Performance No performance criteria to report. 
 

Priorities for Next 
Quarter 

 Embed the ICE strategy into the work plans of each of the 
ICE work streams. 

 Publish the newsletter and assist with the development of the 
Annual Report.  It is intended that the quarterly newsletters 
will feed into the annual report from next year on.  The Lead 
for the Annual Report will be invited to the next ICE Leads 
meeting. 

 To consider the Welsh Language requirements for the PSB 
any associated resource implications.  Similarly consider the 
advertising / publication resource requirements. 

 The ICE leads are considering a project across all works 
streams re:community profiling.  

 Explore how to utilise social media, particularly ‘#ourcwmtaf’ 
can be used to promote the PSB as part of the 
Communications Network remit. 

Page 46

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/


 

Board Update (ICE) _SPBJan19_7VI 

 Determining how we can make effective use of extra support 
available through Art of the Possible to act as a pathfinder to 
develop Cwm Taf capacity and approach to involvement. 
There is a danger of being criticised as a result of slow 
progress on meaningful and innovative involvement in the 
implementation of the plan. 

 Consider the next steps for involvement with the offer from 
Future Generations Commissioner to provide support on 
involvement, for example, on ACES / Loneliness and 
Isolation, using a citizen focused approach to assessing 
impact and where interventions can have the greatest 
impact. 

 To make progress on the Involvement approach to the 
Wellbeing Plan / Objectives.  

 Workforce Development / Awareness. 
 

Challenges to be 
escalated to PSB? 
 

Nothing at this stage 

 

Page 47

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/


Our Cwm Taf 

News from the Public Services Board 
Autumn 2018  

Page 48



Welcome to the first newsletter of the 
Cwm Taf Public Services Board.

The ‘Cwm Taf PSB’ is made up of 
organisations right across Merthyr Tydfil 
and Rhondda Cynon Taf including the 
health board, two local authorities, police, 
fire service, third sector, Natural Resources 
Wales and probation service. Instead of 
working separately we are all now working 
together far more closely to make sure 
we address some of the big challenges we 
face in our communities. 

Professor Marcus Longley, 
Chair, Cwm Taf Public 

Services Board 
The PSB was set up after the Well-being of Future Generations Act 
was passed by the National Assembly, and aims to change the way 
local public services are planned and delivered for the future. Wales 
is the first country in the world to introduce legislation to protect the 
next generation and all decisions we now take will have to consider 
the impact they have on our communities and our environment in the 
future.

The PSB’s purpose is to ensure everyone works together to improve 
the well-being of our communities, through effective partnership 
working. The CTPSB’s Well-Being Plan has four well-being objectives 
which are:
• Thriving Communities;
• A Strong Economy; 
• Healthy People; and
• Tackling loneliness and social isolation (cross-cutting objective).

The work of the PSB must consider the well-being of the people of 
Cwm Taf now and those who will live and work here in the future. 
This will be achieved by ensuring that all the work of the PSB is 
carried out in line with the sustainable development principle of the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act, which sets out five 
specific ways in which the PSB must go about meeting its duty. 

The Our Cwm Taf quarterly newsletter will provide an update on how 
our organisations are working differently as partners and what the 
PSB is doing to make things better in your community.

Page 49



Minister visits early years centre in Merthyr 
Tydfil to see how local organisations are 
working together to support families 

The Minister for Children, Older People and Social Care Huw Irranca-
Davies rolled up his sleeves and got stuck into the painting at Gurnos 
Community Centre in October as part of a Welsh Government visit to the 
early years centre!

The community centre offers a wide variety of activities for children 
and support for families with input from education, health visiting, third 
sector, midwifery and social services all under one roof and aims to be a 
one stop shop of support.

Cwm Taf is one of five Children First pioneer areas in Wales which aim to 
develop a new integrated model for early years provision. The approach 
involves professionals working together to ensure the right support is 
given to families when they need it, be it before birth or during the early 
years of school.

Partners including Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf councils; Cwm 
Taf University Health board, public health, and the voluntary sector are 
coming together to create ‘vulnerability profiles’ so that resources and 
teams around the family can be targeted in the right places. 

Page 50



RCT County Youth Forum to tackle bullying 
and mental health

Through RCT’s County Youth Forum young people have decided that the 
two issues they were keen to tackle were bullying and mental health, and 
they have set up two sub groups to look into them.  

Over the last year the young people have jointly gone through training 
including Young People’s Mental Health First Aid training and Public 
Speaking training.  

The young people wanted to create a resource that raised awareness of 
bullying and isolation and how this can have a damaging impact on young 
people’s mental health.  The main aim of the video is to promote the 
message of being kind and understanding of others and the battles that 
they face, as well as promoting where young people can access support.  

The video will be a prompt for discussion in issue based sessions 
throughout youth clubs in RCT.  The video will be supported by age 
appropriate resources both of which are being finalised currently with 
young people, with the resource being launched later this year.  

Once launched, the video will be rolled out in youth clubs throughout 
RCT delivered by young people within the forum who have received 
training.  The young people will be supported by Youth Engagement and 
Participation Service staff during each of these sessions and throughout 
the project.  

Page 51



Plans to create ‘edible playgrounds’ in 
Gurnos and Rhondda Fach! 

Unfortunately eating the swings won’t be 
part of this innovative idea, but planting and 
learning about gardening at dinner time could 
be on the agenda for some schoolchildren in 
the Cwm Taf area very soon!

In the two Cwm Taf Community Zones of 
Gurnos and Rhondda Fach, Natural Resources 
Wales is exploring options to ‘green’ the areas 
including tree planting, edible playgrounds, 
raised beds, green rooved shelters and 
wildflower planting for pollinators. 

NRW will be liaising with local housing 
associations, voluntary groups and the local 
councils to scope suitable potential areas 
in which to start the projects. The edible 
playground initiative which NRW hopes local 
schools will be interested in developing has 
been introduced in some parts of England to 
encourage children to be active and take care 
of their local environment with great success 
– you can read more details here - 
https://www.treesforcities.org/our-work/
edible-playgrounds/hitherfield-primary-school

Evidence shows that being outside and 
connecting with nature can provide many 
benefits including guarding against obesity; 
reducing the symptoms of stress and ADHD; 
minimising childhood short sightedness and 
promoting academic attainment.

To support outdoor learning in the Cwm Taf 
area NRW also has a range of curriculum 
linked learning resources available for schools 
including woodland based activities and 
messaging around waste, recycling and fly-
tipping for inclusion in lesson plans. For more 
information please contact: education@
naturalresourceswales.gov.uk Page 52



Just One Small Change can help you 
#FeelGreat!

Thousands of public and voluntary sector staff who work across Cwm Taf 
will be encouraged to take up the ‘One Small Change’ challenge in January. 

The campaign which was piloted in Cwm Taf University Health Board in 
2017 encourages staff to pledge to make just one small change to their 
daily lifestyle and commit to it for 30 days.

The change can be as simple as drinking more water every day, walking 
during every lunch break, swapping your coffee for decaf or doing some 
star jumps before your team meeting!

Cwm Taf Public Health Consultant Angela Jones said, “Being healthy and 
fit doesn’t have to be hard work and by pledging just one small change to 
your daily life you can help improve your health and feel so much better. 

Evidence shows however that small, incremental changes can have 
impact, particularly if those changes are instigated and owned by people 
themselves.”

Porters David and Carl at the Royal Glamorgan Hospital in Llantrisant 
clocked up the miles as part of the #FeelGreat Challenge, recording the 
steps they did as part of their jobs on pedometers for 30 days as they 
aimed to improve their fitness regimes!

Other pledges from staff in the health board included cycling to work one 
day a week; doing the plank each morning and switching biscuits for fruit 
during the coffee break.

For more information about the campaign and to see if you could make one 
small change visit http://cwmtaf.wales/feelgreat/

Page 53



Public sector bodies commit to the 
‘Employability Pledge’

Organisations across the public sector in 
Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf have 
joined forces to provide more opportunities 
for work and training for local people.

Whilst still in development the initiative is a 
key plank of the work of the Public Service 
Board and aims to ensure people have better 
access to job opportunities and training 
schemes in the health board, the two local 
authorities, police and fire services, as well 
as the environment body Natural Resources 
Wales.

The Pledge which has been signed by all of 
the main public sector bodies in the Cwm Taf 
area also aims to provide more professional 
development opportunities for existing 
employees and ensure the public sector is 
seen as an employer of choice.

More information will be available via 
the Public Service Board website www.
ourcwmtaf.wales as the initiative is 
developed 

Page 54



RCT Youth Engagement and Participation 
Community Project

More than 40 young people from the Youth Engagement and Participation 
Service Ferndale and Treorchy Youth Clubs have joined forces to help 
improve the open spaces in their communities. 

Working together with South Wales Police, RCT Parks and Environmental 
Services departments, they have spent their days at Darran Park painting 
benches, planting bee friendly flowers, weeding areas around the lake 
and some general tidying for members of the community to use and 
enjoy the area.

The Rhondda YEP Service staff were super proud of the young people’s 
positive attitudes and their willingness and commitment to the project.  
They were amazed at the difference they made to the area.

Hayley Manns, YEP Service Community Youth Offer Coordinator 
said: “This project has been a great success. The young people have 
been working really hard to improve the area and really enjoying the 
days as a whole. We have been using our YEPS social media site www.
wicid.tv to post updates and it has attracted a lot of positive attention 
from residents.  The residents have stated that they are so pleased to see 
young people getting involved.” Page 55



Tackling loneliness and isolation a major 
priority for the PSB

These case studies show how the Welcome Friends group is 
bringing elderly people together

Daphne aged 90, below, was referred by the Interlink coordinator and 
although being very mobile and independent, was extremely lonely and 
anxious about meeting new people. She did not have much support from 
family and was only on a nodding acquaintance with neighbours. She was 
introduced to a volunteer befriender and they immediately got on really 
well. She now receives weekly visits and phone calls and the volunteer 
enjoys her company as much as Daphne does. She was keen to attend 
our weekly social group in Pontyclun to play scrabble and meet other 
people but could not make that initial step on her own. Her volunteer 
brought her for the first time and she was made very welcome. Now she 
comes her own every week and has continued to have home support 
from her volunteer.

Carl, aged 75 pictured above right, was also referred by Interlink 
in need of support to get out during the day as he suffered memory 
problems and Parkinson’s. He was introduced to Paul in July who started 
bringing him to the Welcome Friends group. He also enjoys short car 
trips in the local area and although his mobility is deteriorating he can 
still engage in conversation and playing board game. He now stays for 
lunch at the day centre and attends other activities there too. His wife is 
so grateful for the respite she is now able to enjoy knowing that Carl is in 
safe hands.

Page 56



Josie is 85 years old (right) and was referred 
to Welcome Friends in mid July.  She has severe 
mobility issues and poor sight following a stroke 
and has been housebound for some considerable 
time.  She has carers calling throughout the day 
but spends long periods on her own. She is very 
chatty and loves making conversation.  In early 
August, volunteer, Lana who has similar interests 
to Josie and they have quickly built up a positive 
relationship.  Lana visits Josie twice a week.  

With Lana’s support. Josie was recently able to 
attend a lunch club.  Josie’s carers had made sure 

You can find out more information about the Welcome Friends group here 
https://volunteeringmatters.org.uk/opportunity/welcome-friends-rhondda-
cynon-taf/ or call Interlink RCT on 01443 846200

that she was ready in her wheelchair for the taxi to pick her up while 
Lana accompanied Josie on the journey to the venue. On returning home, 
Lana stayed with Josie until the carers arrived to move her from her 
wheelchair.  

Josie had a wonderful afternoon and said it was lovely to get out of the 
house, have some company and be able to chat with all the people at the 
lunch.  She hopes to be able to do it again sometime.  

Page 57



To find out more about the work of the Cwm Taf Public Services 
Board; and what’s going on to improve your local community please 
visit www.ourcwmtaf.wales.

Page 58



Document Name: Information, Communication and Engagement Strategy
Owner: Chair of ICE Group 
Version: 1 / January 2019 
Status: Draft 
Approved by SPB: -
Approved by PSB: -
Date for review: 2020

Page 59

www.ourcwmtaf.wales


 
 

 
    1 

 

CWM TAF PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD 
INFORMATION, COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENTSTRATEGY 

2018-2020 

 
AUTHOR 

 
Felicity Waters, Head of Communications and Media, Cwm Taf University Health Board 

WHAT IS THE PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD? 

 
The Cwm Taf Public Services Board (CTPSB) is a revolution in the way our local public services such as local authority services, health, 
education, police, probation, fire and rescue, and the voluntary sector are planned and delivered.   

The CTPSB is a joint Public Services Board covering Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf. The PSB has a duty under the Well-being of 

Future Generations (Wales) Act to coordinate the planning, commissioning and delivery of public services across organisational boundaries.  

The PSB’s purpose is to ensure everyone works together to improve the well-being of our communities, through effective partnership working. 
The CTPSB’s Well-Being Plan has four well-being objectives, which were agreed based upon evidence from the Cwm Taf Well-Being 
Assessment, March 2017 achieve this are: 
 

 Thriving Communities; 

 A Strong Economy;  

 Healthy People; and 

 Tackling loneliness and social isolation (cross-cutting objective). 
 
The work of the PSB must consider the well-being of the people of Cwm Taf now and those who will live and work here in the future. This will be 
achieved by ensuring that all the work of the PSB is carried out in line with the sustainable development principle of the Well-being of Future 

P
age 60

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/


 
 

 
    2 

 

Generations (Wales) Act, which sets out five specific ways in which the PSB must go about meeting its duty. By working in these ways, public 
bodies can seek to meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 
 
 
 

 
 
The sustainable development principle is applicable to all work carried out by the PSB, including information, involvement and communication. 
As such, all activity conducted as part of any PSB work should employ these five ways of working. 
 
The well-being objectives identified by the PSB as the focus of its work, together with the steps it will take to meet them will form the Cwm Taf 
Well-being Plan. All PSB work streams are conducted in support of achieving the PSB’s well-being objectives and it is essential that any and all 
information, involvement and communications conducted in support of PSB work streams is designed and delivered to progress the work stream. 
 
In addition to the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act and accompanying guidance, the information, involvement and communications 
activities developed as part of all PSB work will be underpinned by relevant standards and sources of best practice (Appendix B).  
 

P
age 61



 
 

 
    3 

 

INFORMATION, COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENT 

 
Information, communication and engagement mean the involvement of the people we work and live with in our communities and are key 
elements in the design and delivery of our services to improve the well-being of the people of Cwm Taf. 
 
Using and sharing data and information, and communicating  with the communities of Cwm Taf will be vital if the work of the PSB is to be 
understood and is to achieve its aim of changing the way we serve the public.  

The PSB is made up of the senior managers and leaders of the public and voluntary sector organisations right across Merthyr Tydfil and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf. It aims to shift the focus from simply reacting to the problems faced by our communities to using evidence to help prevent 
them, and addressing more issues together rather in isolation.   

This will involve working together with citizens, and within our own organisations, in a different way. 

As a relatively new body, the profile of the PSB is still very low in Cwm Taf. The priority will be to ensure that not only do our communities know 
what the Public Services Board is and what it does, but that staff in our own organisations are also familiar with its aims, and overall intent to 
work collectively.  

Raising the profile of the Public Services Board will be important for the delivery of the Cwm Taf Well-Being Plan, May 2018, so the public 
understands what it means for them and who is leading it. This will involve joint working of communications leads of all member organisations 
with a commitment to share information and news on the new Cwm Taf PSB website and cross promote the portal to all our stakeholders. 

While a general awareness raising campaign is needed about the PSB itself, more targeted communications and involvement will also be 
required to reflect the Objectives of the Well-Being Plan that are focussed on specific communities.    

This Information, Communication and Engagement Strategy will outline how the PSB and the individual organisations that are part of it can:  

 raise the profile of the PSB to increase awareness of its work; 

 communicate its key objectives simply;  

 involve the public in helping to identify solutions to the wider issues facing their community 

 making effective use and sharing the information we collect to improve public services 

 
Involvement should follow the practice of co-production, where appropriate. This means that individuals and communities are offered 
opportunities at all stages of design, development and delivery to contribute and help shape projects and services.  
 

P
age 62



 
 

 
    4 

 

Channels for information sharing, involvement and communication  

 The ‘Our Cwm Taf’ website  

 Existing public services workforce   

 Events in local communities, businesses, schools, colleges etc 

 Websites and intranets of each member organisation 

 Social media channels within each member organisation 

 TV screens to broadcast key information within each member organisation eg. 22 patient information screens Cwm Taf University Health 
Board sites 

 Local media  

 Networks of the Local Assembly Members and MPs 
 

INCLUDING EVERYONE 

 
Involving, communicating and information sharing must be inclusive, taking account of as wide a range of stakeholders as possible, 
allowing all to have an opportunity to be meaningfully involved. 
 
The completion of a formal Equality Impact Assessment is not required under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act. Regardless, all 
PSB involvement and communications must adhere to best practice principles (Appendix B), in order to ensure that all members of all 
communities, as far as possible, have the opportunity to be a part of the conversation. This includes those with specific protected 
characteristics. The targeting of involvement and communications at particular audiences and stakeholders may mean the development of 
specific products and/or activities. 
 

INFORMATION COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENT (ICE) GROUP  

 
The ICE Group is responsible for advising and supporting the PSB work with regards to all information, involvement and communications.  
 
All PSB partners are required to support their staff to participate in PSB information, communications and engagement activities, as members of 
ICE Group, as appropriate. 
  

P
age 63



 
 

 
    5 

 

 
 

MONITORING AND EVALUATION 
 

 
All information, involvement and communications activities must be monitored and evaluated effectively. The ICE Group will support the 
ongoing development and delivery of information, involvement and communications throughout the work of the PSB and will work with the 
Objective leads to monitor progress and adapt accordingly. 
 
As and when activities relating to each area is complete, feedback should be provided to the ICE Group on the outcomes and lessons learnt 
(using the Participation Cymru evaluation form). Key lessons learnt and support with ongoing work must also be provided to the ICE Group, as 
appropriate.  
 

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

In order to ensure compliance with this strategy, members of the PSB will: 

 Promote and champion PSB objectives and any information, involvement and communications activities relating to them; 

 Champion and prioritise a co-productive approach to information sharing, involving and communicating with communities and other 
stakeholders; 

 Develop information sharing, involvement and communications skills within their individual organisations, as appropriate; 

 Be the link between the PSB and their individual organisation in order to maintain effective information, involvement and communications;  

 Recognise each other’s  different constraints such as the resources and timescales; 

 Receive regular updates from the ICE Group (via the SPB) and  provide appropriate advice, assistance and recommendations as 
appropriate; 

 Promote the PSB to the staff within their own organisation, providing regular updates and links to Our Cwm Taf website  

 Commit resources, including staff time, to support information, involvement and communications activities as appropriate. 
 

In order to ensure compliance with this strategy, Objective leads will: 

 Promote and champion PSB work and any information, involvement and communications activities relating to them; 

 Champion and prioritise a co-productive approach to involving and communicating with communities and other stakeholders; 

 Complete a PSB Information, Involvement  and Communications Activities Plan, embedding the principles outlined in this strategy; 

 Seek the advice, assistance and recommendations of the ICE Group; 

 Ensure all relevant information, involvement and communications activity is carried out under the appropriate PSB branding; 

 Seek the support of the lead organisations’ information, involvement and communications officers, to provide relevant messages. These 
can then be shared with other PSB organisations,(subject to ICE Group approval; 

P
age 64



 
 

 
    6 

 

 Manage all information, involvement and communications activity effectively, making appropriate strategic engagement links; 

 Contribute to the facilitation of information, involvement and communications as appropriate; 

 Provide regular updates to the ICE Group and receive additional guidance as appropriate; 

 Measure impact and evaluate information, involvement  and communications activity at the end of each project and report to the ICE 
Group on lessons learnt; 
 

In order to ensure compliance with this strategy, members of the ICE Group will: 

 Promote and champion PSB objectives and any information, involvement and communications activities relating to them; 

 Champion and prioritise co-production when informing, involving and communicating with communities and other stakeholders; 

 Provide the PSB (via the SPB) with regular updates on engagement and communication activity; 

 Advise project leads on completing a PSB Information, Involvement  and Communications Activities Plan, including designing and 
developing activity which embeds the principles of this strategy; 

 Provide ongoing advice, assistance and recommendations on information, involvement  and communications activity, contacts, resources 
and strategic links; 

 Collate impact and evaluation reporting of all PSB information, involvement and communications activity and monitor lessons learnt; 

 Review this strategy and update as appropriate. 
  

 

  

P
age 65



 
 

 
    7 

 

APPENDIX A: CWM TAF PSB ICE ACTIVITIES FOR 2018-2019 

 

CWM TAF PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD 
ICE KEY ACTIVITIES 2018-2019 

 
 
 

Key activity   Method Channels Leads When  

PSB profile 

raising  

Explaining in very simple terms 

what the PSB is. 

 

* Who is on it and how does it 

work? 

* What is its purpose? 

* What does it mean for the 

public? 

* Explain what the workstreams 

are and what they hope to 

achieve 

* Explain how the public can be 

involved in the work of the PSB 

* Promote and encourage 

attendance at PSB engagement 

events  

Social media; TV screens and websites of 

all individual PSB organisations  

 

Press release for media using a case 

study of a project where organisations 

have worked together and achieved a 

positive outcome 

 

Our Cwm Taf website 

  

Work with young people on ‘young 

person’s PSB’. 

 

Easy read version developed and 

promoted with People’s First. 

Comms leads to draft 

key messages/ 

members of the 

Information, 

Communications and 

Engagement Group 

(ICE) to cascade 

through their 

organisations   

All ICE Group leads 

to contribute to 

content of quarterly 

newsletter. 

Throughout the 

year. 

P
age 66



 
 

 
    8 

 

* Promotion of the Our Cwm Taf 

video clip  

 

*Profiles of the organisation leads 

on the PSB – who are they and 

what role does their organisation 

play on the PSB 

 

Publication of quarterly newsletter 

Partners’ Events calendar on Our 

Cwm Taf website. 

Key activity   Method Channels Leads When  

Publication of 

the Wellbeing 

Plan  

Key aims to be extracted and 

promoted in simple language  

i.e. The Public Services Board 

has published a Wellbeing Plan 

for Cwm Taf with the aim of 

tackling poverty and improving 

wellbeing through 

organisations working together 

and targeting their efforts in 

identified communities.  

All channels including media 

 

Spokespeople for interviews  

Comms leads to draft 

press release/ key 

messaging around 

the publication. 

 

 

 

May 2018 

  

P
age 67



 
 

 
    9 

 

Key activity   Method Channels Leads When  

 Piloted in Cwm Taf – plan to roll it 

out across PSB organisations  

ICE group support leads to 

develop ICE Strategy for each 

Wellbeing Objective.   

  January 2019 

Key activity   Method Channels Leads When  

Thriving 

Communities: 

Place based 

approach – 

focus on a 

community 

intervention that 

could be shared 

  PSB /SPB needs to 

draft a delivery plan 

identifying what each 

organisation is doing 

in the 2 communities 

for initial targeted 

intervention 

 

Key activity   Method Channels Leads When  

Healthy People: 

One Small 

Change – 

healthy 

behaviours  

campaign  

ICE group support leads to 

develop ICE Strategy for each 

Wellbeing Objective.   

   

January 2019. 

Key activity   Method Channels Leads When  

P
age 68



 
 

 
    10 

 

Strong 

Economy 

ICE group support leads to 

develop ICE Strategy for each 

Wellbeing Objective.   

 As above  

Key activity   Method Channels Leads When  

Tackling 

Loneliness and 

Isolation 

ICE group support leads to 

develop ICE Strategy for each 

Wellbeing Objective.   

   

Promotion of 

PSB website 

Production of content by each 

PSB organisation to populate the 

website – these need to be 

examples ideally of where they 

have worked with partners for the 

benefit of the community  

ICE group support leads to 

develop ICE Strategy for each 

Wellbeing Objective.   

This content can be turned into press 

stories/ social media content highlighting 

the collaborative work of the PSB 

Comms leads and 

members of the 

Information, 

Communication and 

Engagement Group 

Throughout 2018  

Key activity   Method Channels Leads When  

The Cwm Taf 

workforce  

ICE group support public services 

to come together to develop 

understanding of 5 ways of 

working in relation to the 

Wellbeing Objectives 

 As above – tangible 

actions to develop the 

workforce in each of 

the 2 pilot areas need 

to be agreed by the 

PSB/SPB.  

 

P
age 69



 
 

 
    11 

 

 

APPENDIX B: LIST OF STANDARDS WHICH UNDERPIN THIS STRATEGY 

 

 Participation Cymru’s National Principles for Public Engagement in Wales; 

 Children and Young People’s National Participation Standards (2016); and The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child; 

 The Older People’s Commissioner’s Best Practice Guidance for Engagement and Consultation with Older People on Changes to Community 
Services in Wales;  

 The Equality Act (2010); and 

 Other local and national good practice in engagement and communications. 
 

P
age 70

http://www.wcva.org.uk/what-we-do/participation-cymru
https://downloads.unicef.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2010/05/UNCRC_united_nations_convention_on_the_rights_of_the_child.pdf?_ga=1.109366848.414531122.1492696297
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/Community_Services_Guidance_for_LAs.sflb.ashx
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/Community_Services_Guidance_for_LAs.sflb.ashx
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents


Document Name: Information, Communication and Engagement Terms of Reference 
Owner: Chair of ICE Group 
Version: 1 / January 2019 
Status: Draft 
Approved by SPB: -
Approved by PSB: -
Date for review: By January 2022 

Page 71

www.ourcwmtaf.wales


 
 

1 
 

 Information, Communication and Involvement (Engagement) Group 

Terms of Reference January 2019 

BACKGROUND  

The Information, Communication and Involvement (Engagement) ‘ICE’ group has been created by 
Cwm Taf Public Services Board (PSB) and Strategic Partnership Board (SPB) in response to the 
requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations Act. Originally established as the Public 
Engagement Group, the ‘PEG’, the group was revised and reconfigured to reflect the broader need 
to communicate with and inform, as well as be informed by, our communities. 
 
 
PURPOSE OF THE ICE GROUP 

ICE is made up of the three composite strands of Information, Communication and Involvement 
(Engagement) with assigned roles and responsibilities:  

 

APPROACH 

The approach and work of ICE will be iterative and fluid, adapting to reflect the changing needs and 

priorities emerging from our communities as well as the Public Services Board. 

In all approaches, ICE will adopt and adhere to the five ways of working as set out in the Well-being 

of Future Generations Act – thinking long term, acting to prevent, considering how to integrate, 

acting to collaborate and ensuring involvement for the people of Cwm Taf. The group will also 

support the PSB’s contribution to the seven well-being goals. 

The group will draw on the expertise of its members to maximise opportunities for the PSB to 

inform, communicate and involve. 

Page 72

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/


 
 

2 
 

MEMBERSHIP 

The chairs of the Information and Intelligence workstream, the Communications network and the 

Engagement (Involvement) group will meet with the PSB support team, in line with SPB meetings. 

The collective ICE group must be chaired by the lead/Chair from one of the three composite strands 

who attends SPB and provides a board update. 

The wider group, including members of the subgroups, will meet twice a year.  

Membership of the ICE sub-groups should reflect that of the PSB partnership with attendees from 

(at a minimum): 

Cwm Taf Health Board/Public Health team 

Interlink 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Natural Resources Wales 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 

South Wales Fire and Rescue 

South Wales Police 

VAMT 

 
Appropriate colleagues should attend the subgroups as the representative for their organisation, i.e. 

a member of the communication team should be involved in the comms network, the engagement 

team in the involvement group and data/performance in the information and intelligence 

workstream. 

ICE will be supported by the Data and Communications/Engagement leads from within the PSB 

Support Team. 

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

ICE will create a sustainable partnership through: 

Information Communication Involvement 

Establishing and demonstrating the conditions for continuous improvement in practice and 
performance 

Supporting and facilitating the sharing of good practice, expertise and resources for the benefit of 
all stakeholders across Cwm Taf. 

Increase the emphasis on, and value of, a Cwm Taf identity 

Supporting the co-ordination and publication of key strategies and plans 

Supporting and demonstrating 
(progress on) objectives 

Capturing and communicating 
the work of the PSB 

Advocating and championing 
involvement and co-
production through on-going 
conversations 

Providing a reporting 
mechanism and repository 
against common priorities and 
targets 

Promoting success stories Signposting to community 
groups to best involve and 
capture citizen voice 

Establishing and 
demonstrating the conditions 
for continuous improvement 
in practice and performance 

Exploring opportunities and 
methods to communicate with 
our communities 

Ensuring involvement is done 
across the board, including 
with seldom heard groups. 

Page 73

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/


 
 

3 
 

Inform and help to drive 
operational decision making  
 

  

 

 

GOVERNANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

Meetings between the sub-groups leads will be held every six-eight weeks as needed.  In the period 

between meetings, communication and directions will be provided through email, and the Chair, or 

representative. 

ICE agendas and papers will be shared with the group in advance of the meetings taking place to 

allow members of the group to comment. Requests for additional items will also be sent. 

The group will be directed by the SPB, for the work it undertakes. Updates on ICE’s activity and 

progress will be provided to SPB as a board update. Any challenges or requests for support will also 

be escalated to SPB for resolving or decision as appropriate, and the group requests clear steer also 

be filtered back from SPB. 

 

The Terms of Reference for the group will be reviewed in line with a change of ICE Chair and those of 

the Strategic Partnership Board. 

ALIGNMENT TO OTHER BOARDS 

The workstream will support and align to the strategic principles and aims of the wider PSB and Cwm 

Taf partnerships. 

Page 74

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/


Cwm Taf Public Services Board Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 

  

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer / PSB 
Member  

Scrutiny Focus  Time allocated 

6th September 
2018 
 
10am-12 noon 

Progress Updates on Public 
Services Board (PSB) and 
Strategic Partnership Board 
(SPB) 

Prof. Marcus 
Longley (Chair of 
Cwm Taf PSB) &  
Kelechi Nnoaham 
(Chair of Cwm Taf 
SPB) 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  The Chairs of Cwm Taf Public Services Board 

and Strategic Partnership Board will offer an update report on all 

progress made following publication of “Our Cwm Taf”, the PSB’s Well-

being Plan.  Members will review and discuss the content of the report 

and identify the next steps to be taken to support further progress 

15 minutes 

Review of Thematic 
Delivery Plans relating to 
‘Our Cwm Taf’ 

Paul Mee 
Chris Hole 
Angela Jones 
Ellis Cooper 
Alyn Owen 
Ian Davy 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Committee Members will consider to the 

delivery plans for the 4 themed areas of the PSB’s Well-being Plan and 

discuss the proposed scrutiny arrangements to be put in place in 

respect of these.  Members will consider whether they need to look at 

each theme individually and invite the respective lead officer to attend 

the JOSC meeting together with the PSB Chair (who would present the 

item) 

60 minutes 

Development of Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Work Programme 

Committee Chair – 
Cllr Tanya Skinner 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  The Committee will review and discuss a draft 

work programme as prepared by a Task and Finish Group.  Members 

will consider whether the draft work programme covers all areas which 

they are required to maintain an overview of and recommend 

amendments (if required). 

 

20 minutes 

Confirmation of proposed 
schedule of dates for Cwm 
Taf JOSC meetings 

Committee Chair – 
Cllr Tanya Skinner 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Members will consider the dates of future 

JOSC meetings and confirm a schedule which will take them to the end 

of the current civic year.   

10 mins 

 

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 7



Cwm Taf Public Services Board Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

  

22nd November  
2018 

Progress Updates on Public 
Services Board (PSB) and 
Strategic Partnership Board 
(SPB) 

Prof. Marcus 
Longley (Chair of 
Cwm Taf PSB) &  
Kelechi Nnoaham 
(Chair of Cwm Taf 
SPB) 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  The Chairs of Cwm Taf Public Services Board 

and Strategic Partnership Board will offer an update report on all 

progress made following publication of “Our Cwm Taf”, the PSB’s Well-

being Plan.   

20 minutes 

Update on the ‘Thriving 
Communities’ objective 
 

Angela Jones 
(Public Health 
Wales) 

Scrutiny and Challenge:   The Lead Officer(s) for this objective will offer 
Members an update on the progress made to date in relation to this 
objective within the ‘Our Cwm Taf’ Wellbeing Plan.  Members will have 
an opportunity to review and directly question the Lead(s) on any issues 
identified. 

60 minutes 

Performance Management 
Framework 

Kelly Wells (PSB 
Support Team 
Manager) 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Committee Members receive an update on the 
development of the Performance Management Framework which will 
be used to determine the impact of the work being undertaken in direct 
response to the PSB’s wellbeing objectives 

 

Cwm Taf JOSC – Venue 
Options Report 

TBC Scrutiny and Challenge:  Arising from the Committee Meeting held on 
06.09.2018; Members will receive a report outlining options for the 
siting of future meetings of Cwm Taf PSB JOSC and will be required to 
agree their preferred option. 

15 minutes 

24th January 
2019 

Progress Updates on Public 
Services Board (PSB) and 
Strategic Partnership Board 
(SPB) 

Prof. Marcus 
Longley (Chair of 
Cwm Taf PSB) &  
Kelechi Nnoaham 
(Chair of Cwm Taf 
SPB) 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  The Chairs of Cwm Taf Public Services Board 

and Strategic Partnership Board will offer an update report on all 

progress made following publication of “Our Cwm Taf”, the PSB’s Well-

being Plan.   

20 minutes 

Update on the ‘Healthy 
People’ objective 

Paul Mee & Chris 
Hole 

Scrutiny and Challenge:   The Lead Officer for this objective will offer 
Members an update on the progress made to date in relation to this 
objective within the ‘Our Cwm Taf’ Wellbeing Plan.  Members will have 
an opportunity to review and directly question the Lead on any issues 
identified. 

45 minutes 

Information, 
Communication and 
Engagement Group 

Simon James 
(Interlink) 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Committee Members will  receive a report on 
the work of the ICE group and will have an opportunity to pose 
questions regarding the groups’ work. 

45 minutes 

P
age 76



Cwm Taf Public Services Board Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

22nd March 
2019 

Progress Updates on Public 
Services Board (PSB) and 
Strategic Partnership Board 
(SPB) 

Prof. Marcus 
Longley (Chair of 
Cwm Taf PSB) &  
Kelechi Nnoaham 
(Chair of Cwm Taf 
SPB) 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  The Chairs of Cwm Taf Public Services Board 

and Strategic Partnership Board will offer an update report on all 

progress made following publication of “Our Cwm Taf”, the PSB’s Well-

being Plan.   

15 minutes 

Update on the ‘Strong 
Economy’ objective 

Alyn Owen Scrutiny and Challenge:   The Lead Officer for this objective will offer 
Members an update on the progress made to date in relation to this 
objective within the ‘Our Cwm Taf’ Wellbeing Plan.  Members will have 
an opportunity to review and directly question the Lead on any issues 
identified. 

45 minutes 

Update on the ‘Tackling 
Loneliness and Isolation’ 
cross cutting objective 

Simon James Scrutiny and Challenge:   The Lead Officer for this objective will offer 
Members an update on the progress made to date in relation to this 
objective within the ‘Our Cwm Taf’ Wellbeing Plan.  Members will have 
an opportunity to review and directly question the Lead on any issues 
identified. 

45 minutes 

 
Additional items to consider for Work Programme 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

  

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

  

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3.1 22/11/ 2018
	4 Progress Update - Cwm Taf PSB and Cwm Taf SPB
	Appendix 2

	5 Healthy Places Update
	Appendix
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	6 Information, Communication and Engagement Group
	Appendix 1
	7.6VI_ICE Update_SPBJan19
	7.61_7VI_ICE Update_App1_Newsletter
	7.62_7VI_ICE Update_App2_Strategy
	Report cover (draft)
	Draft ICE Strategy December 2018v2

	7.63_7VI_ICE Update_App3_ Draft Terms of Reference
	Report cover (draft)
	Draft ICE TOR



	7 Work Programme 2018-19



